

Special Community Health Needs

ABSTRACT

Populations are not homogeneous or uniform in terms of health. There are differences in age, gender, socioeconomic status, risk factors of lifestyle, and groups whose burden of disease requires special attention. This chapter addresses special needs such as mental health, oral health, and the many groups in a population whose needs are greater and more specific than those of the general population. Some special needs relate to disasters, refugee and migrant situations, prisoners, gay and lesbian, and aboriginal populations. Each of these includes specific issues for public health attention. The success of a public health system is perhaps best measured by how it manages to meet the needs of such special groups and service needs with preventive and health promotion approaches.

SUPPORT MATERIAL

Student Competencies: Transferable Knowledge and Skills

The following are points of emphasis highlighting key principles that public health graduates are expected to understand and apply into practice. The key points arise from this chapter and other studies in specialized courses, seminars, readings during public health education, and continuing education. The selected skills and knowledge are divided into two parts. The first consists of core questions pertaining to immediate student requirements, while the second refers to competencies essential for successful public health practitioners. These include competencies recommended by the American Public Health Association in 2007, as well as those of the European Association of Schools of Public Health and the Public Health Agency of Canada's 2008 Report on Core Competencies. For more detailed competencies please consult the Association of Schools of Public Health website at: <http://www.asph.org/document.cfm?page=851>

Part I: Core Questions

1. Why are mental health diseases a public health concern?
2. What are the advantages of community-oriented care versus custodial care for mental health care?
3. What can be done to prevent mental illness and mental retardation?
4. What is the role of the family and the community in mental health?

5. What are the advantages and disadvantages of institutional care and community care for people with intellectual disabilities?
6. What are the major functions of dental public health?
7. What are the public health approaches to dental health?
8. What are special health hazards associated with imprisonment?
9. What is the importance of physical disability in public health? What measures can be taken to reduce the prevalence or severity of physical disability?
10. What are the special health needs of aboriginal populations?
11. What is the role of legislation in protecting such groups as handicapped or mentally ill people?
12. What is the New Public Health approach to identifying and providing care for special groups in the community?

Part II: Knowledge and Skills

1. Define a public health problem in relation to special needs issues or population groups in your country/state/city.
 - (a) Conduct a literature search and evaluation involving the most important databases and your own search profile.
 - (b) Systematize an empirical literature search.
 - (c) Present a systematic review with criteria for empirical studies on identified literature.
 - (d) Define the concept of meta-analysis and present an overview of strengths and weaknesses of meta-analyses.
 - (e) Include where possible cost-effectiveness analysis.
 - (f) Summarize the literature including government and non-government agency reports.
 - (g) Define and recommend steps needed to address the problem.
 - (h) Present your report with key findings as a PowerPoint presentation, a written document, a news media briefing, and a blog.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

General Health

Biermann, F., Boas, I., 2008. Protecting Climate Refugees: The case for a global protocol. Environment. Nov-Dec. Available at: <http://www.environmentmagazine.org/Archives/Back%20Issues/November-December%202008/Biermann-Boas-full.html> (accessed 23.03.14).

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nchs.htm> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, United States National Center for Health Statistics [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/indfacts.htm> (accessed 14.06.12).
- Fisher, W.H., Geller, J.L., Altaffer, F., Bennett, M.B., 1992. The relationship between community resources and state hospital recidivism. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 49, 385–390. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1536279> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Mathers, C.D., Loncar, D., 2006. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS. Med.* 3 (11), e442. Available at: <http://www.plosmedicine.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pmed.0030442> (accessed 23.03.14).
- National Institutes of Health, NIH almanac 2006–2007. NIH publication no. 06-5 [updated 2012]. Available at: http://www.nih.gov/about/almanac/archive/2006–2007/Almanac_2006_2007.pdf.
- United Nations, Framework Convention on Climate Change. Rio plus 20. Available at: <http://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/>, <http://unfccc.int/2860.php> (accessed 23.03.14).
- US Census Bureau, 2006. Statistical abstract of the United States. Available at: <http://www.census.gov/compendia/statab/> (accessed 09.05.12).
- US Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [updated 2012]. Available at: <https://www.womenshealth.gov/> (accessed 30.06.12).
- US Department of Health and Human Services, 2011. Health United States [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus11.pdf> (accessed 14.06.12).
- US Department of Health and Human Services, 2010. Healthy People [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.healthypeople.gov/2010> (accessed 23.03.14).
- US Department of Health and Human Services, Women's health [updated 2012]. Available at: <https://www.womenshealth.gov/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- US Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency Management Agency [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.fema.gov/> (accessed 30.06.12).
- US National Center for Health Statistics, 2010. Health United States with special feature on death and dying. CDC, Hyattsville, MD. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus10.pdf> (accessed 28.06.12).
- World Health Organization, 1991. Health for All targets: the health policy for Europe. European Health for All Series No. 4. WHO Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/euro/hfas/EURO_HFAS_4.pdf (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization, 1985. Targets for Health for All: targets in support of the European regional strategy for Health for All. WHO Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/euro/hfas/EURO_HFAS_1.pdf (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization. World Health Report 2007 – a safer future: global public health security in the 21st century. Available at: <http://www.who.int/whr/2007/en/index.html> (accessed 30.06.12).
- Zaza, S., Briss, P.A., Harris, K.W., 2005. The guide to community preventive services: what works to promote health. Oxford University Press, New York. Available at: <http://www.thecommunityguide.org/library/book/Front-Matter.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).
- ## Mental Health
- American College of Mental Health Administration [updated 2010]. Available at: www.acmha.org (accessed 22.06.12).
- American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, Facts and figures. Available at: <http://www.afsp.org/understanding-suicide/facts-and-figures> (accessed 23.03.14).
- American Psychiatric Association, DSM5: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Available at: <http://www.psych.org/> (accessed 02.08.13).
- Brodsky, B.S., Groves, S.A., Oquendo, M.A., Mann, J.J., Stanley, B., 2006. Interpersonal precipitants and suicide attempts in borderline personality disorder. *Suicide Life Threat. Behav.* 36, 313–322. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16805659> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Buka, S.L., 2008. Psychiatric epidemiology: reducing the global burden of mental illness. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 168, 977–979. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2572566/> (accessed 08.08.12).
- Butcher, J., Controversial Mental Health Bill reaches the finishing line. Special report, 370, 117–119. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/current?tab=past> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Center for Mental Health Services, 2006. Mental Health, United States, 2004. In: Manderscheid, R.W., Berry, J.T. (Eds.), DHHS Publication no. (SMA)-06-4195. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville, MD. Available at: <http://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA06-4195/SMA06-4195.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1999. Achievements in public health, 1900–1999. Motor-vehicle safety: a 20th century public health achievement. *MMWR. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 48, 369–374. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm4818a1.htm> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2005. Alcohol and other drug use among victims of motor-vehicle crashes – West Virginia, 2004–2005. *MMWR. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 55, 1293–1296. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17159830> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012. Alcohol use and binge drinking among women of childbearing age – United States, 2006–2010. *MMWR. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 61, 534–538. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22810267> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Community mental health services [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.thecommunityguide.org/mentalhealth/index.html> (accessed 22.06.12).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mental illness surveillance among adults in the United States [updated 2011]. Available at: <http://cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/su6003a1.htm> (accessed 22.05.12).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010. National Hospital Discharge Survey, 2010, first-listed diagnostic categories: United States. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhds/2average/2010ave2_firstlist.pdf (accessed 24.08.13).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 10 October 2012. National Vital Statistics Reports. Deaths: preliminary data for 2011 61 (6). Table 7. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr61/nvsr61_06.pdf (accessed 23.08.13).
- Chilvers, R., Macdonald, G.M., Hayes, A.A., 2006. Supported housing for people with severe mental disorders. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 18 (4) CD000453. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17054130> (accessed 23.03.14).

- Dunn, M.C., Clare, C.H., Holland, A.J., 2010. Living “a life like ours”: support workers’ account of substitute decision-making in residential care homes for adults with intellectual disabilities. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 54, 144–160. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20015161> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Durkin, M.S., 1998. Beyond mortality – residential placement and quality of life among children with intellectual disability. *Am. J. Public Health* 86, 1359–1360. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1380642/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Editorial, 2007. Mental health: neglected in the UK. *Lancet* 370, 104. Available at: [http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/vol1370no9582/PIIS0140-6736\(07\)X6030-6](http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/vol1370no9582/PIIS0140-6736(07)X6030-6) (accessed 23.03.14).
- Ferguson, M., Jarrett, D., Terras, M., 2010. Inclusion in healthcare choices: the experiences of adults with learning disabilities. *Br. J. Learn. Disabil.* 39, 73–83. Available at: <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2010.00620.x/abstract> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Guerino, P., Harrison, P.M., Sabol, W.J., 2011. Prisoners in 2010 (revised). Bureau of Justice Statistics, Washington, DC. Available at: <http://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p10.pdf> (accessed 03.08.13).
- Gvion, Y., Apté, A., 2012. Suicide and suicidal behavior. *Public. Health. Rev.* 34, 1–20. Available at: www.publichealthreviews.eu (accessed 02.08.13).
- Haveman, M.J., 1996. Epidemiologic issues in intellectual disability. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 9, 305–311. Available at: <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/mrdd.10031/abstract?deniedAccessCustomisedMessage=&userIsAuthenticated=false> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Horton, R., 2007. Launching a new movement for mental health. *Lancet* 370 (806). Available at: [http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736\(07\)61243-4/fulltext?_eventId=login](http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(07)61243-4/fulltext?_eventId=login) (accessed 23.03.14).
- Institute of Medicine, 2002. Crossing the quality chasm: report for behavioral health. US Academies of Science, National Academies Press, Washington, DC. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19823/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- International Helsinki Federation for Human Rights. Annual Report. Available at: <http://www.ihf-hr.org/> (accessed 23.03.2014).
- Kedia, S., Sell, M.A., Relyea, G., 2007. Mono- versus polydrug abuse patterns among publicly funded clients. *Subst. Abuse. Treat. Prev. Policy* 2, 33. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17996066> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Kessler, R.C., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Chatterji, S., Lee, S., Ormel, J., et al., 2009. The global burden of mental disorders: an update from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. *Epidemiol. Psichiatr. Soc.* 18, 23–33. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3039289/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Kessler, R.C., Akiskal, H.S., Angst, J., Guyer, M., Hirschfeld, R.M., Merikangas, K.R., Stang, P.E., 2006. Validity of the assessment of bipolar spectrum disorders in the WHO CIDI 3.0. *J. Affect. Disord.* 96 259–259. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16997383> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Kessler, R.C., Berglund, P., Chiu, W.T., Demler, O., Heeringa, S., Hiripi, E., et al., 2004. The US National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R): design and field procedures. *Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res.* 13, 69–92. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15297905> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Kessler, R.C., Heeringa, S., Lakoma, M.D., Petukhova, M., Rupp, A., Schoenbaum, M., et al., 2008. Individual and societal effects of mental disorders on earnings in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Am. J. Psychiatry*. 165, 703–711. Available at: <http://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/article.aspx?articleid=99885> (accessed 21.09.12).
- Lancet*, Series on Global Mental Health 2011 collection [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/series/global-mental-health-2011> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Leaning, J., Briggs, S.M., Chen, L.C., 1999. *Humanitarian crises: the medical and public health responses*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Lenzenweger, M.F., Lane, M.C., Loranger, A.W., Kessler, R.C., 2007. DSM-IV personality disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 553–564. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17217923> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Levinson, D., Lakoma, M., Petukhova, M., Schoenbaum, M., Zaslavsky, A.M., Angermeyer, M., et al., 2010. Associations of serious mental illness with earnings: results from the WHO World Mental Health surveys. *Br. J. Psychiatry*. 197, 114–121. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20679263> (accessed 21.09.12).
- Marcus, S.C., Olfson, M., 2008. Outpatient antipsychotic treatment and inpatient costs of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 34, 173–180. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17578893> (accessed 23.03.14).
- McLaughlin, K.A., Green Greif, J., Hwang, I., Sampson, N.A., Zaslavsky, A.M., Kessler, R., 2012. Intermittent explosive disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry*. 69, 1131–1139. Available at: <http://archpsyc.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1206777> (accessed 03.07.12).
- Mechanic, D., 2007. Mental health services then and now. *Health Affairs* 26, 1548–1550. Available at: <http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/26/6/1548.abstract> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Merikangas, K.R., Akiskal, H.S., Angst, J., Greenberg, P.E., Hirschfeld, R.M., Petukhova, M., Kessler, R.C., 2007. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of bipolar spectrum disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry*. 64, 543–552. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17485606> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Morris, J., Lora, A., McBain, R., Saxena, S., 2012. Global mental health resources and services: a WHO survey of 184 countries. *Public Health Rev.* 34 (2). [Epub ahead of print]. Available at: http://www.publichealthreviews.eu/upload/pdf_files/12/00_Morris.pdf (accessed 27.06.13).
- National Comorbidity Survey, 2005. NCS-R: answers to frequently asked questions. Available at: <http://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/ncs/faqncsr.php> (accessed 20.09.12).
- National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey, 2009. Emergency department summary tables. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ahcd/nhamcs_emergency/2009_ed_web_tables.pdf.
- National Institute of Mental Health, Mental illness exacts heavy toll, beginning in youth. Available at: <http://www.nimh.nih.gov/news/science-news/2005/mental-illness-exacts-heavy-toll-beginning-in-youth.shtml> (accessed 17.07.13).
- National Institute of Mental Health, 2008. National Strategic Plan. Available at: <http://www.nimh.nih.gov/about/strategic-planning-reports/index.shtml> (accessed 24.08.13).
- National Institute of Mental Health, The numbers count – mental disorders in America [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications> (accessed 08.05.12).
- National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Mental Health. The numbers count – mental disorders in America [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/the-numbers-count-mental-disorders-in-america/index.shtml> (accessed 23.03.14).
- National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.ninds.nih.gov/>; <http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/learningdisabilities/learningdisabilities.htm> (accessed 23.03.14).

- Nease, D.E., Volk, R.J., Cass, A.R., 1999. Investigation of the severity-based classification of mood and anxiety symptoms in primary care patients. *J. Am. Board. Fam. Pract.* 12, 21–31. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10050640> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Neugebauer, R., 1999. Mind matters: the importance of mental disorders in public health's 21st century mission. *Am. J. Public Health* 89, 1309–1311. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1508781/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Nobelprize.org, 2013. Nobel lecture: Julius Axelrod: noradrenaline: fate and control of its biosynthesis. Nobel Media. Available at: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/1970/axelrod-lecture.html (accessed 17.07.13).
- Nock, M.K., Borges, G., Bromet, E.J., Cha, C.B., Kessler, R.C., Lee, S., 2008. Suicide and suicidal behavior. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 30, 133–154. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18653727> (accessed 23.03.14).
- O'Neill, D.M., 1996. The effect of alternative deflators. *Adm. Policy Ment. Health* 24, 3–23.
- Ramstedt, M., 2001. Alcohol and suicide in 14 European countries. *Addiction* 96 (Suppl. 1), S59–S75. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11228079> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Safran, M.A., Mays, R.A., Huang, L.N., McCuan, R., Pham, P.K., Fisher, S.K., et al., 2009. Mental health disparities. *Am. J. Public Health* 99, 1962–1966. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2759796/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Samerasekara, U., Staffing issues affecting care on acute psychiatric wards. Special report, 370, 1191–1121. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/current?tab=past> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Schalock, R.L., Borthwick-Duffy, S.A., Bradley, V.J., Buntinx, W.H.E., Coulter, E.M., Craig, E.M., et al., 2010. Intellectual disability: definition, classification, and systems of supports, eleventh ed. American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, Washington, DC.
- Shetty, P. Mental-health services for children patchy in the UK. Special report, 123–125. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/current?tab=past> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2013. Behavioral Health, United States, 2012. HHS Publication No. (SMA) 13-4797. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Available at: <http://www.samhsa.gov/data/2012BehavioralHealthUS/2012-BHUS.pdf> (accessed 06.04.14).
- UK Department of Health, Mental Health Services [updated 2012]. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health> (accessed 23.03.14).
- UN General Assembly, 24 January 2007. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities A/RES/61/106: Resolution. Available at: <http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/45f973632.html> (accessed 06.06.12).
- US Department of Health and Human Services, 1999. Mental health: a report of the Surgeon General. US Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Mental Health Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Mental Health, Rockville, MD. Available at: <http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/mentalhealth/home.html> (accessed 10.05.08).
- Ustün, T.B., 1999. The global burden of mental disorders. *Am. J. Public Health* 89, 1315–1318. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10474545> (accessed 08.08.12).
- Wasserman, D., Cheng, Q., Jiang, G.X., 2005. Global suicide rates among young people age 15–19. *World Psychiatry*. 4, 114–120. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1414751/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Wehmeyer, M.L., Bolding, N., 2001. Enhanced self-determination of adults with intellectual disability as an outcome of moving to community-based work or living environments. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 45, 371–383. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11679043> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Weinberg, L., Whiteford, H., Caldas de Almeida, J., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Levinson, D., O'Neill, S., et al., 2012. Translation of the World Mental Health Survey data to policies: an exploratory study of stakeholders' perceptions of how epidemiologic data can be utilized for policy in the field of mental health. *Public Health Rev.* 34 [Epub ahead of print]. Available at: http://www.publichealthreviews.eu/upload/pdf_files/12/00_Weinberg.pdf (accessed 23.03.14).
- Werner, S., 2012. Individuals with intellectual disabilities: a review of the literature on decision-making since the Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities (CRPD). *Public Health Rev.* 34. Available at: www.publichealthreviews.eu (accessed 15.08.12).
- While, D., Bickley, H., Roscoe, A., Windfuhr, K., Rahman, S., Shaw, J., et al., 2012. Implementation of mental health service recommendations in England and Wales and suicide rates, 1997–2006: a cross-sectional and before-and-after observational study. *Lancet* 379 (9820), 1005–1012. Available at: [http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736\(11\)61712-1/fulltext](http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(11)61712-1/fulltext) (accessed 06.04.14).
- Wilkinson, E., Access to psychological therapies almost non-existent. Special report, 370, 121–123. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/current?tab=past> (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Association, 2008. The WHO World Mental Health surveys: global perspectives on the epidemiology of mental disorders. In: Kessler, R.C., Ustün, T.B. (Eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- World Health Organization, ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders – clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. WHO, Geneva [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/bluebook.pdf> (accessed 22.06.12).
- World Health Organization, 2003. Investing in mental health. WHO, Geneva. Available at: http://www.who.int/mental_health/media/investing_mnh.pdf (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization, 2012. Mental health. WHO MIND – mental health in development. Available at: http://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/en/ (accessed 08.08.12).
- World Health Organization, 2011. Mental health atlas. WHO, Geneva. 2011. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9799241564359_eng.pdf (accessed 08.08.12).
- World Health Organization, September 2010. Mental health: strengthening our response. Fact sheet no. 220. Available at: <http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs220/en/> (accessed 08.08.12).
- World Health Organization, 2012. Suicide prevention (SUPRE). WHO, Geneva. Available at: http://www.who.int/mental_health/prevention/suicide/suicideprevent/en/ (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization, 2005. The world mental health survey initiative. Available at: <http://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/wmh/> (accessed 21.09.12).
- World Health Organization, 2007. Mental health - strengthening our response. Available at: www.who.int/entity/mediacentre/factsheets/fs220/en/ (accessed 23.03.14).

World Health Organization, 2001. World Health Report. Mental health: new understanding, new hope [updated 2001]. Available at: <http://www.who.int/whr/2001/en> (accessed 14.06.12).

World Health Organization European Region. Policies and practices for mental health in Europe - meeting the challenges. Copenhagen, 2008. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0006/96450/E91732.pdf (accessed 23.03.14).

Oral Health

American Dental Association. <http://www.ada.org/> (accessed 14.06.12).

American Dental Association, 2009–10. Survey of dental education. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0006/96450/E91732.pdf (accessed 23.08.13).

British Fluoridation Society, March 2012. One in a million. Available at: <http://www.bfsweb.org/onemillion/onemillion2012.html> (accessed 23.03.14).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1999. Achievements in public health, 1900–1999: fluoridation of drinking water to prevent dental caries. MMWR. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 48, 933–940. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm4841a1.htm> (accessed 23.03.14).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Community water fluoridation [updated 25.07.2013]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/fluoridation/guidelines/index.htm> (accessed 23.08.13).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011. Oral health [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/AAG/doh.htm> (accessed 14.06.12).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Reference statistics on community water fluoridation [updated April 2012]. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/fluoridation/statistics/reference_stats.htm (accessed 08.06.12).

Nash, D.A., Friedman, J.W., Mathu-Muju, K.R., Robinson, P.G., Satur, J., Moffat, S., et al., 2012. A review of the global literature on dental therapists in the context of the movement to add dental therapists to the oral health workforce in the United States. WK Kellogg Foundation, Battle Creek, MI. Available at: <http://www.nationaloralhealthconference.com/docs/presentations/2012/05-01/David%20Nash.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research. <http://www.nidcr.nih.gov/> (accessed 14.06.12).

World Health Organization, Oral health [updated 2012]. Available at: http://www.who.int/topics/oral_health/en/ (accessed 14.06.12).

Disability and Rehabilitation

Drum, C.E., Krahn, G.L., Bersani, H. (Eds.), 2009. Disability and public health. American Public Health Association Press, Washington, DC.

United Nations, Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/convention/convention_full.shtml (accessed 12.06.12).

US Department of Health and Human Services, National Center for Health Statistics. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_10/sr10_252.pdf (accessed 14.06.12).

World Health Organization, Disabilities and rehabilitation: world report on disabilities. Available at: http://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/en/index.html (accessed 28.06.12).

Gay and Lesbian Health

American Academy of Pediatrics, 2013. Policy Statement: Office-based care for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning youth. Pediatrics 132, 198–203. Available at: <http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/132/1/198.full.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

American Medical Association Council on Scientific Affairs, 2008. Optimizing care for gay men and lesbians. Report 9 of the Council on Science and Public Health (A-08). Available at: <http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/doc/csaph/csaph9a08-summary.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

Auerbach, J., 2008. Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender public health: progress and challenges. Am. J. Public Health 98, 970. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2377303/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Crandall, C., 2012. The effects of repealing Don't Ask Don't Tell: is the combat exclusion the next casualty in the march toward integration? Georgetown J. Law Public Policy 15 (10), 15–49. Available at: <http://www.law.georgetown.edu/academics/law-journals/gjlp/upload/zs800112000015.PDF> (accessed 23.03.14).

Frankowski, B.L., 2004. Sexual orientation and adolescents. Pediatrics 113, 1827–1833. Available at: <http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/113/6/1827.full.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

Mayer, K.H., Bradford, J.B., Makadon, H.J., Stall, R., Goldhamer, H., Landers, S., 2008. Sexual and gender minority health: what we know and what needs to be done. Am. J. Public Health 98, 989–995. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2377288/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Steele, C.B., Meléndez-Morales, L., Campoluci, L.R., DeLuca, N., Dean, H.D., November 2007. Health disparities in HIV/AIDS, viral hepatitis, sexually transmitted diseases, and tuberculosis: issues, burden, and response, a retrospective review, 2000–2004. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC, Atlanta, Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/healthdis-parities/> (accessed 23.03.14).

US Naval Institute, 2013. Key dates in US policy on gay men and women in military service. USNI. Available at: <http://www.usni.org/news-and-features/dont-ask-dont-tell/timeline> (accessed 17.07.13).

Native Peoples' Health

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Native peoples' health [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/populations/REMP/aian.html> and http://www_aaip.com (accessed 14.06.12).

Health Canada, A statistical profile on the health of First Nations in Canada: Vital Statistics for Atlantic and Western Canada; 2001/2002 [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fniah-spnia/pubs/aborig-autoch/stats-profil-atlant/index-eng.php> (accessed 14.06.12).

Health Canada, First Nations, Inuit, and Aboriginal health [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/index-eng.php> (accessed 14.06.12).

Jorgensen, J.G., 1996. Recent twists and turns in American Indian health care. Am. J. Public Health 86, 1362–1364. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8876502> (accessed 23.03.14).

Kunitz, S.J., 1996. The history and politics of US health care policy for American Indians and Alaska natives. Am. J. Public Health 86, 1464–1473. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8876522> (accessed 23.03.14).

Post, B., 1997. The underserved and desperate: native health, it's time for action. CMAJ. 157, 1655–1656. Available at: http://www.collectionscanada.gc.ca/eppp-archive/100/201/300/cdn_medical_association/cmaj/vol-157/issue-12/1655.htm (accessed 23.03.14).

Statistics Canada, Aboriginal people census [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/as-sa/99-011-x/99-011-x2011001-eng.cfm> (accessed 23.03.14).

Statistics Canada, Canada at a glance 2012: population. Available at: <http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/12-581-x/2012000/pop-eng.htm#c04> (accessed 27.06.13).

US Department of Health and Human Services, Indian health service [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.ihs.gov/> (accessed 14.06.12).

Prisoners' Health

Centers for Disease Control. Correctional Health. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/correctionalhealth/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Freudenberg, N., Daniels, J., Crum, M., Perkins, T., Richie, B.E., 2008. Coming home from jail: the social and health consequences of community reentry for women, male adolescents, and their families and communities. Am. J. Public Health 98 (9 Suppl):S191–S202. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18687613> (accessed 23.03.14).

Gatherer, A., Moller, L., Hayton, P., 2005. The World Health Organization European Health in Prisons project after 10 years: persistent barriers and achievements. Am. J. Public Health 95, 1696–1700. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1449422/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Restum, Z.G., 2005. Public health implications of substandard correctional health care. Am. J. Public Health 95, 1689–1691. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16186448> (accessed 23.03.14).

US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics 2008. Corrections Statistics. Available at: <http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=tp&tid=1> (accessed 23.03.14).

US Department of Justice, 2010. Office of Justice Systems, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Correctional populations in the United States [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=tp&tid=1> (accessed 23.03.14).

US Department of Justice, Prisoner's health [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://ojp.gov/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Migrant Health

American Academy of Pediatrics, Council on Community Pediatrics Policy Statement, 2013. Providing care for immigrant, migrant, and border children. Pediatrics, 131, e2028–e2035. Available at: <http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/early/2013/04/30/peds.2013-1099> (accessed 23.03.14).

International Organization for Migration. Available at: <https://www.iom.int/cms/migration-health> (accessed 07.04.14).

Rust, G., 1990. Health status of migrant farmworkers: a literature review and commentary. Am J Public Health 1990 (80), 1213–1217.

World Health Organization, Migrant health. Humanitarian health action [updated 2012]. Available at: http://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/health_of_migrants/en/ (accessed 14.06.12).

Refugee Health

Biermann, F., Pattberg, P., van Asselt, H., 2009. The fragmentation of global governance architectures: a framework for analysis. Global Environmental Politics 9 (4), 14–40. Available at: <http://www.glogov.org/images/doc/9.4.biermann.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Refugee health guidelines overseas and domestic malaria guidelines for refugees from sub-Saharan Africa [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/immigrantrefugeehealth/pdf/malaria-overseas.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).

Cookson, S., Waldman, R., Gushulak, B., MacPherson, D., Burkle, F., Paquet, C., et al., 1998. Immigrant and refugee health. Theme Issue ICEID 1998, 4 (3). Available at: http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/4/3/98-0323_article.htm (accessed 23.03.14).

Stastny, P., Penney, D., 2008. Lost luggage, recovered lives. Am. J. Public Health 98, 986–998. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2377310/> (accessed 23.03.14).

United Nations Refugee Agency. The UN Refugee Agency. Available at: <http://www.unhcr.org/cgi-bin/texis/vtx/home> (accessed 06.04.14).

United Nations, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.unhcr.ch> (accessed 14.06.12).

Military Medicine

European Union, 2009. Injuries in the European Union: statistics summary 2005–2007. Report [updated 2012]. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/health/healthy_environments/docs/2009-idb-report_screen.pdf (accessed 14.06.12).

Fitzgerald, G.J., 2008. Chemical warfare and medical response during World War I. Am. J. Public Health 98, 611–625. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2376985/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Hoge, C.W., Castro, C.A., Messer, S.C., McGurk, D., Cotting, D.I., Koffman, R.L., 2004. Combat duty in Iraq and Afghanistan, mental health problems, and barriers to care. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 13–22. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15229303> (accessed 23.03.14).

Pols, H., Oak, S., 2007. War and military mental health: the US psychiatric response in the 20th century. Am. J. Public Health 97, 2132–2142. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2089086/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Seal, K.H., Cohen, B., Gima, K.S., Metzler, T.J., Ren, L., et al., 2010. VA mental health services utilization in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans in the first year of receiving new mental health diagnoses. J Trauma Stress 23 (1), 5–16. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20146392> (accessed 06.04.14).

Wallace, R.B., Kohatsu, N., 2007. Military medicine. Maxy-Rosenau-Last. Public health and preventive medicine, fifteenth ed. McGraw-Hill.

Yano, E.M., Simon, B.F., Lanto, A.B., Rubenstein, L.V., 2007. The evolution of changes in primary care delivery underlying the Veterans' Health Administration's quality transformation. Am. J. Public Health 97, 2151–2159. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2089092/> (accessed 23.03.14).

Disasters and Health

Bartels, S., Scott, J., Leaning, J., Mukwege, D., Lipton, R., VanRooyen, M., 2010. Surviving sexual violence in Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo. J. Int. Womens Stud. 11 (4), 37–49. Available at: <http://vc.bridge.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1197&context=jiws> (accessed 23.03.14).

Blum, R., Stanton, G.H., Sagi, S., Richter, E.D., 2008. "Ethnic cleansing" bleaches the atrocities of genocide. Eur. J. Public Health 18, 204–209. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17513346> (accessed 23.03.14).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006. Assessment of health-related needs after Hurricanes Katrina and Rita – Orleans and Jefferson Parishes, New Orleans Area, Louisiana, October 17–22, 2005. MMWR. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 55, 38–41. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16424857> (accessed 23.03.14).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Jan 13, 2012. Preparedness and Response for Public Health Disasters. Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER). Available at: <http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/default.htm>, <http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/casper.htm> (accessed 06.04.14).

Chin, C.S., Sorenson, J., Harris, J.B., Robins, W.P., Richelle, C.C., Jean-Charles, R.R., et al., 2011. The origin of the Haitian cholera outbreak strain. N. Engl. J. Med. 364, 33–42. Available at: <http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1012928?viewType=Print> (accessed 23.03.14).

- World Nuclear Association. Fukushima accident [updated April 2014]. Available at: <http://www.world-nuclear.org/info/safety-and-security/safety-of-plants/fukushima-accident/> (Accessed 03.04.14).
- Leaning, J., 2004. Diagnosing genocide – the case of Darfur. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 351, 735–738. Available at: <http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJM200411043511929> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Logue, J.N., 1996. Disasters, the environment, and public health: improving our response. *Am. J. Public Health* 86, 1207–1210. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1380580/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Noji, E.K., 2005. Public health issues in disasters. *Crit. Care. Med.* 33 (Suppl. 1), S29–S33. Available at: http://www.academia.edu/2650236/Public_health_issues_in_disasters (accessed 23.03.14).
- Spiegel, P., Sheik, M., Gotway-Crawford, C., Salama, P., 2002. Health programmes and policies associated with decreased mortality in displaced people in postemergency phase camps: a retrospective study. *Lancet* 360, 1927–1934. Available at: <http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140673602119155.pdf> (accessed 23.03.14).
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). <http://www.unep.org/> (accessed 14.06.12).
- US Homeland Security Agency. http://www.fema.gov/news/disaster_totals_annual.fema (accessed 04.07.12).
- VanRooyen, M., Leaning, J., 2005. After the Tsunami — facing the public health challenges. *N Engl J Med* 352, 435–438. Available at: <http://www.nejm.org/toc/nejm/352/5> (accessed 23.03.14).
- Waring, S.C., Brown, B.J., 2005. The threat of communicable diseases following natural disasters: a public health response. *Disaster Manag. Response* 3 (2), 41–47. Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15829908> (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization, Tsunami [updated 2012]. Available at: <http://www.who.int/hac/crises/jpn/en/> (accessed 23.03.14).
- World Health Organization, World Water Day 2001. Water sanitation and health. Available at: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/oral-health/en/index2.html (accessed 08.05.12). Available at: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2089092/> (accessed 23.03.14)